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PROCEEDINGS

OF

A COURT OF INQUIRY,

Convened on board the United States frigate the

President, in the harbour of New York, on

the thirtieth day of August, 1811, pursuant

to thefollowing warrant:

TO STEPHEN DECATUR, ESQUIRE,
A Ca/ituiti in the navy of the United States.

WHEREAS it doth appear, by a letter from

John Rodgers, esquire, a captain in the navy of the

Uniied States, and commanding the United States*

frigate, the President, to me addressed, bearing date

oft' Sandy Hook, May 23d, 1811, copy of which is

hertunto annexed, that on the night of the 16th day

of May, 1811, a shot was fired from a vessel of war,

called the Little or the Lille Belt, commanded by a

certain A 13 Binghnm, captain, and belonging to the

navy of his Britannick majesty, at thj said frigate the

President, without any previous provocation or justi-

fiable cause. And whereas the United States are at

peace with Great Britain, and wish to maintain the

relations of peace inviolate : And whereas this act of

captain Bingham's can be considered in no other light

than as an act of hostility unprovoked, and an insult

ofRred to the flag of the United States :

Now, therefore, for the more perfect information

of the government of the United States in the pre-

miers, I do hereby authorize and require you to con-

vene a Court of Inquiry, to consist of yourself as
30—2
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president, and the members named in the margin,* to

hoid their sessions at such time and place as may be
most suitable and convenient ; to call before them call

officers and others whose presence may be deemed
necessary ; to examine minutely into every circum-

stance stated in the letter of John Rodgers, esq. an-

nexed ; to take all the testimony that can in any man-
ner or degree elucidate facts; and to state to me all

the facts that shall be disclosed, in order that such
proceedings may thereupon be had, as may appear to

be right and proper.

Of this court you will appoint Nathan San ford,

esquire, the judge advocate.

Given under my hand, and the

, n seal of the navy department of
(seal.;

the rjnited States, this 24th dav
of July, 1811.

(Signed) PAUL HAMILTON,
Secretary of the navy of the United States.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, President,

Captain Charles Stewart, ~) ^ ,

r> ' • t /—m r lViemDei s.
Captain Isaac Chauncey, 5

Mr. Sanford being unable, from the bad state of

his health, to act as judge advocate, the court, at the

request of the secretary of the navy, appointed Wil-
liam Paulding, junior, (adjutant general of the state

of New-York) their judge advocate; who, there-

upon, administered to the members thereof, the oath

prescribed by the articles of war; after which, the

* Charles Stewart, ? esquires, captains in the navy of the Uni-

Isaac Chauncey, \ ted States.

wart, ?

icey,5

Nathan Sanford, esquire, judge advocate.
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president of the court administered to the judge ad-

vocate the oath by the said articles prescribed.

The court having appointed John Heath (lieutenant

of marines) their provost marshal, adjourned to meet

at the same place to-morrow morning at 11 o'clock.

Saturday, the 31st August, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, 7 u
r,

r
T r>,

'
S- members.

Captain Isaac Cnauncey, 5

The minutes of the proceedings of yesterday were
read and approved of by the court.

Charles Ludlow, esquire, was sworn by the court

as a w itness.

Question by the judge advocate. Were you on
beard the United Slates' frigate the President at the

time of the action on the evening of the 16th day of

May last, between her and his Britannick majesty's

ship the Liile or Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes.
Question by the judge advocate. What was your

station on board of the said frigate the President, at

the time of the action aforesaid ?

Answer. Acting captain, with the rank of master
commandant.

Question by the judge advocate. When and where
did you first discover the Little Belt, and what were
the circumstances which occurred from the time vuu
perceived her until the termination of the said action ?
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Answer. On the 16th day of May last, at meridi-

an, there were discovered from the mast head of the

United States' frigate the President, several sail in

the east, of which the Little Belt must have been
one. We were then in seventeen fathoms water, cape
Henry bearing S. W. distant fourteen or fifteen

leagues. At half pa^t one p. m. from the deck of the

President, we discovered the Little Belt to be a

sqiure rigged vessel standing for us under a press of

sail ; we being then upon a wind standing to the

southward and eastward, and the Little Belt bearing

about east by south. About five minutes after she

settled her ro\ als, and shewed signals, which she kept

flying for several minutes, when commodore Rodgers
gave orders to hoist the colors and to clear the decks.

When the Little Belt rnuled down her signals she

wore and stood to the southward, and set her lar-

board top gallant studding sails and upper topsails.

About a quarter past 2 p. m. commodore Rodgers
ordered to beat to quarters ; then we kept the Presi-

dent good full. At 4 o'clock p. m. the wind became
very light, the Little B>.It then bearing about south

south east, thirteen miles from us; when we set our

upper stay sails and larboard top gallant studding

sails ; about this time the Little Belt set her lower

studding sails ; we were then steering about south.

About 5 p. m. we set our larboard lower studding

sail, the Little Belt bearing about south south east,

a very light air from north north east ; we were then

going from four to five knots. About 6 p. m the Lit-

tle Belt set her starboard top gallant studding sail, and

hauled up about a point, steering south. At 7 p. m.
or a little after, the Little Belt took in her studding

s.iils, and i or fifteen minutes after she hove too on

the starooard tack. At half past 7 p. m. we took in

our stud ling sails, royals and stay sails, at which hour

for the fi ^t time, I saw colours flying on board 'he

Little Belt, but I could not tell to what nation she be-
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longed. At 8 p. m. we hauled the foresail up, and
about a quarter of an hour afterwards commodore
Rodgers gave me orders to take a position on the

weather quarter of the Little Belt, at speaking dis-

tance ; while we were running down for her sue wore
several times. At half past 8 p. m. we rounded too

on her weather beam, within speaking distance, she

then lying with her main topsail to the mast. While
rounding too commodore Rodgers hailed the Little

Belt, saying " what ship is that?" to which I did not

hear any answer. Some moments after the commo"
dore again hailed the Little Belt, saying " what ship

is that?" but previously to the second hail commo-
dore Rodgers observed to me the ship was forging too

fast ahead. While the commodore was hailing the

second time, I was attending to having the jib and
mizzen brailed up, and backing the mizzen topsail,

and was then standing on the grateings of the after

hatch, looking at the mizzen topsail, with my back
to the Little Belt. At the time of the second hail of
commodore Rodgers, a gun was fired, but from my
position I could not see from which ship the shot was
fired, but my impression was, from the report of the

gun, and not feeling any jar, that it came from the

Little Belt. Immediately after I heard the report of
the said gun, and while in the act of ordering the men
from the braces to their quarters, I heard some person
sing out " she has fired into us," and instantaneously

a gun went off from the President's gun deck, the

commodore was then standing in the gang- way. The
gun from the President was scarcely fired when three

guns were fired from the Little Belt, in quick succes-

sion, accompanied with musketry. The commo-
dore then gave some orders, the purport of which I

did not distinctly hear, but the President then com-
menced firing. After firing from her about two
minutes, I remarked to commodore Rodgers that we
were firing too high. The commodore then direct-

31
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ed me to go upon the gun deck and to give orders to

fire low and two round shot. After giving the said

orders I had time to stay and see one gun pointed and
fired, and then returned to the hatchway and repeat-

ed the order to fire low, and immediately after was
returning to the quarter deck, when I received an or-

der from the commodore by the sailing master, to

cease firing, which order was obeyed. I then gave
orders to load the guns and run them out, and then

repaired to the quarter deck. As soon as I got on the

quarter deck the Little Belt recommenced firing,

which was returned immediately by the President,

and continued a few minutes, when I received an or-

der from Commodore Rodgers to cease firing, as,

he said, some accident had happened to the Little Belt,

her bow then bearing directly on the President's

broadside, and she (the Little Belt) apparently ungo-
vernable. It was at this time that commodore
Rodgers remarked that she (the Little Belt) must have

received some unfortunate shot at the commencement
of the action, or that she must be a vessel of force

very inferior to what we had taken her for. About
this time I observed the gaff of the Little Belt was
down, mizzen topsail yard on the cap, and I believe

the main topsail yard also. I did not then perceive

any colours flying. I then went forward to have the

pumps sounded, when I heard some hailing.

After I had attended to my duty I returned aft, at

which time the Little Belt was steering to the south-

ward and eastward, and the President was laving too.

About 9 o'clock, p. m. we took in top gallant sail

and laid too with the mizzen top sail back, and head

to the northward and westward. At this time I re-

ceived orders to prepare for tacking, when I replied

that the main and crogick braces were shot away ;

the commodore then gave orders to repair damages.
About a quarter before eleven o'clock at night, having

lost sight of the Little Belt, we wore to the southward
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and eastward and filled away, the wind being about
northeast, and something fresher than it had been.

About forty minutes after midnight, we backed the

mizzen topsail and laid too during the remainder of

the night. At sun rise we discovered the Little Belt

on our lee beam, bearing nearly south south east, dis-

tant about eight miles ; we set the foresail and bore up
for her ; shortly after our bearing up for her, shetook all

her sails in except the main topsail, and was employ td
unbending them. At eight in the morning we hove
too under her lee beam, hailed her and sent our boat

aboard with lieutenant Creighton.

At his return, at nine o'clock, he reported her to

be the British ship of war the Little Belt, command-
ed by captain Bingham ; we then hoisted our boat up
and stood by the wind to the northward and westward,
moderate bteezes and clear weather.

Question by a member of the court. Have you
seen commodore Rodgers* official letter to the secre-

tary of the navy, dated off Sandy Hook on the 23d day
of May last, relative to the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes.

Qestion by a member of the court. Are there any
circumstances stated in that letter which you know to

be incorrect ?

Answer. There are none.

Question by commodore Rodgers. How long do
you suppose the firing between the President and
Little Belt continued?

Answer. Including the interval, previously men-
tioned, from fourteen to eighteen minutes.

Question by commodort Rodgers. Was the Pre-

sident at any time during the rencounter on fire?

Answer. Not to my knowledge.
Question by commodore Rodgers. Did the Presi-

dent sheer off, with a view to avoid the Little Belt
;
at

any time during the aetion 2

Answer. No.
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Question by commodore Rodgers. After the Little

Belt's fire was silenced, did commodore Rotrers ap-

pear anxious to prevent further injury being done
to her ?

Answer. Yes, both times.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Were there

any other than round and grape shot fired at the Lit-

tle Belt ?

Answer. There were none other fired : we had
no other than round and grape shot on deck.

Qestionby commodore Rodgers. In the position

the two ships were at the time commodore Rodgers
gave orders the second time to cease firing, what

would, in your opinion, have been the effect of another

broad side from the President ?

Answer. More injurious than any the Little Belt

had received ; probably it would have sunk her.

The court adjourned to meet again, at the same
place, on Monday at eleven o'clock in the forenoon

of that day.

Monday, the 2d September, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Deca ur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, } ,n '
. nu > members.

Captain !i>aac Lhauncey, 3

The proceedings of Saturday were read and approv-

ed of b\ ;i-e c«urt.

John Ord Creighton, esquire, was produced

and sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, during the engagement, on the
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night of the 16th day of May last, with his Britannick

majesty's ship the Lille or Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes.

Question. Do you hold any and what post on
board the said frigate the President?

Answer. Yes, first lieutenant.

Question. Where were you quartered on board

the President, the night of the action ,
?

Answer. At the fourth division on the upper deck.

Question. At what time did you discover the

Little Bel:, and how did she bear ?

Answer. At half past one p. m. on the day of the

action, I discovered the Little Belt, she then bearing

thre^ or four points on our weather bow.

Question. At what time did you discover the

Lit f 'e Belt to be a man of war, and how were both

ships steering at that time ?

Answer. At half past one p. m. on the day of

the action, I was under the impression the Little Belt

was a man of war ; we were upon a wind standing to the

southward and eastward, and she before the wind
standing for us.

Question. At what time did the frigate, the Pre-

sident, display her colours, and when did the Little

Belt shew her colours ?

Answer. At two o'clock p. m. when I came up
from the gun deck, I saw the colours of the Presi-

dent flying, but I did not observe any colours flying

on the Little Belt then, or at any time during the

chase.

Question. At what time did the President come
within hailing distance of the Little Belt?

Answer. About half past eight p. m.
Question. Was the first hail from the President

or Little 3c It ?

Answer, From the President.

Question. Was that hail answered?

Answer. Yes, the commodore hailed ship ahoy ;
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t?he answer from the Little Belt was halloo ; after

which commodore Rodgers asked " what ship

is that?" and the same question of " what ship is

that ?" was immediately repeated from the Little

Belt. Commodore Rodgers again asked, " what
ship is that, I say," to which no answer was given,

but I immediately heard the report of a gun, but did

not see from which ship it proceeded; but from not

feeling any jar, my belief is it came from the Little

Belt.

Question. Were you observing the Little Belt at

the time you heard the report of the said gun ?

Answer. I was not.

Question. At the time you heard the report of the

said gun, had any gun been fired from the division

you then commanded, or had any provocation been

given bv commodore Rodgers to the commander of

the Little Belt ?

Answer. No gun had then been fired from my
division, neither had any provocation been given by
Commodore Rodgers to the captain of the Little Belt.

Question. During the chase of the Little Belt, or

at any time previous to your coming up with her,

what were the orders given by commodore Rodgers
in respect to firing ?

Answer. The commodore caJled me to him and
directed me to see the locks of the guns of the fourth

division half cocked, and the aprons laid on, and re-

marked to me that he would not, for any considera-

tion, have accidents happen, and ordered me not to

fire on the chase unless she fired on us, or I received

orders to that effect from him.

Question. Did you receive any orders from com-
modore Rodgers, to fire previously to the Little Belt

having fired at the President ?

Answer. It was not until after the Little Belt had
discharged her broadside at the President, that I re

eeived orders from commodore Rodgers to fire.
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Qtiestion. Were the guns of the Little Belt

silenced, and how soon, after you received the above
orders to lire ?

Answer. The guns of the Little Belt were silenced

in about five minutes from that time.

Question. After the fire of the Little Belt was
silenced, did commodore Hodgers appear anxious to

prevent further injury being done to her ?

Answer. Yes, the commodore made use of every

exertion* on the occasion to prevent further injury to

the Little Belt, and went himself to some of the guns
on the quarter deck and ordered the captains of them
to cease firing.

Question. Did the fire of the President then cease,

and did the Little Belt afterwards recommence firing,

and how soon ?

Answer. The President then ceased firing, and in

about three minutes after the Little Belt recommenced
firing, and immediately the President renewed her

fire, which lasted about five minutes, when the fire

of the Little Belt was completely silenced ; and I then

heard an officer of the President, I think it was lieu-

tenant Perry, say, somebody is hailing from the other

ship, saying that their colours were down and that

they were in great distress.

Question. As soon as the Little Belt was a second

time silenced did commodore Rodgers use every ex-

ertion to prevent further injury to her?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. At the time you heard the report of the

first gun, did you hear any persons on board the Pre-

sident sing out she has fired into us?
Answer. I heard several persons say " she has

fired into us," meaning the Little Belt.

Question. Did you board the Little Belt the

morning after the action?

Answer. Yes.

Question. Did captain Bingham inform you he

took the President for a French ship ?
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Answer. He did.

Question. What message were you charged with

from commodore Rodgers to captain Bingham, when
you boarded the Little Belt the morning alter the

action ?

Answer. Commodore Rodgers ordered me to go
on board the Little Belt to ascertain the name of the

ship and her commander, and to express his deep re-

gret at what had taken place, and to say he regretted

that the Little Belt had fired first ; that had he known
her force he would even have received a shot without

returning it.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers*

official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes.

Question. Are there any circumstances in that let-

ter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. I know of none.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Was the Pre-

sident on fire at any time during the rencounter with

the Little Belt ?

Answer. She was not.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did the Pre-

sident sheer off with a view to avoid the Little Belt,

at any time during the action ?

Answer. Certainly not.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Were there any

other than round and grape shot fired at the Little Belt ?

Answer. Not to my knowledge ; from the fourth

division which I commanded there were none other

fired ; there were none other than round and grape

shot on either deck.

Question by commodore Rodgers. In the position

the two ships were at the time commodore Rodgers
gave orders the second time to cease firing, what

would, in your opinion, have been the effect of ano-

ther broadside from the President ?
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Answer. It is more than probable it would
have sunk the Little Belt.

Question by commodore Rodgers When you de-

livered commodore Rodgers' message to captain

Bingham, did he ask you why the President had
fired at all ?

Answer. No, he asked me no question of that

kind.

Captain Henry Caldwell, was produced
to the court and sworn as a wit?iess.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate President dunng the engagement, on the night

of the 16th day of May last, with the Little Belt?
Answer. I was.

Question. What is your station on board the Pre-

sident ?

Answer. Commandant of marines.

Question. When the President had arrived within

hailing distance of the Little Belt, did commodore
Rodgers hail her first ?

Answer. Yes.

Question. What answer did commodore Rodgers
receive from the Little Belt ?

Answer. I indistinctly heard a voice from the Lit-

tle Belt, but I could not tell whether it was an answer
to the commodore's hail, or whether the Little Belt

hailed in return.

Question. Were you in a position to observe the

Little Belt at the time the first gun was fierd ?

Answer. I was ; I was looking directly at the Lit-

tle Belt through the starboard gangway.
Question. From which ship was the first gun

fired ?

Answer. From the Little Belt ; I saw the flash of

her gun, and immediately heard the report; commo-
dore Rodgers turning round to me asked what the

devil was that ? and I replied, she has fired into us.

32
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Question. Did commodore Rodders hail the Lit-

tle Belt a second time, and was it iht.n, ai d before

he received an) answer from her, that she fired into

the President ?

Answer. The commodore hailed a second time

and received no answer; but before he bad time to

take the trumpet from his mouth the Little Belt fired

int.'. rhe Piesident.

Question. At this time had commodore Rodgers
given any provocation to the commander of the Little

Belt?

Answer. None whatever.

Question. What were commodore Rodgers' or-

ders on board t ! :e President, betore coming up with

tne Little Beit ?

Answ<r His orders were not to fire unless fired

into-; as we were not to be the aggressor on any ac-

count.

Question. At what time did the men under your

command commence firing at the Little Belt?

Answer. Not until the President had received a

second broadside from the Little Bt It.

Question. After tht President opened her fire

upon the Little Belt, was the latter ship silenced, and

how soon ?

Answer. She was silenced I think in four or five

minutes.

Question. When the Little Belt was silenced did

commodore Rodgers appear anxious to prevent fur-

ther injury being done to htr ?

Answer. He appeared very anxious to prevent fur-

ther injury to the Little Belt, and ga\e immediate

orders to cease firing.

Question. Did the President cease firing; and

did the Little Belt afterwards renew her fire at the

President, and how soon ?

Answer. The President ceased firing ; and the

Little Belt in about two minutes renewed the action.
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Question. Was the President's fire then renewed,
and how long did it continue before the fire of the Lit-

tle Belt was completely silenced ?

Answer. The fire of the President was renew-
ed, and continued about six or seven minutes be-

fore the guns of the Little Belt were completely si-

lenced.

Question. When the fire of the Little Belt was a

second time silenced, did commodore Rodders make
every exertion to prevent further injury being done
to her ?

Answer. He did.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers'
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated ofF

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. I have.

Question. Arethereanycircumstanc.es stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. None at all-

Question by commodore Rodgers. Was the

President at any time on fire during the action ?

Answer. She was not.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did the Presi-

dent sheer off, with a view to avoid the Little Belt, at

any time during the action ?

Answer. No.
The court adjourned to meet at the same place to-

morrow morning at eleven o'clock.

Tuesday, the 3d of September, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

TRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president.

Captain Charles Stewart, } ,

n '

, T nv > members.
Captain Isaac Lhauncey,}
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The proceedings of the court of yesterday, were

read and approved.

Raymond H. J. Perry, was produced and
sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States

frigate the President during the engagement, on the

night of the 16th day of May last, with his Britannick

majesty's ship die Little Beit ?

Answer. I was, sir.

Question. Do you hold any and what station on

board the United States frigate the President ?

Answer. I hold the station of junior lieutenant

and signal officer.

Question. At what time were the colours hoisted

on board the President ?

Answer. About a quarter before two p. m. on

the day of the action.

Question. Were the colours of the President kept

flying until she arrived along side of the Little Belt?

Answer. They were.

Question. On the day of said action, where were

you quartered on board the frigate President ?

Answer. On the quarter deck.

Question. Were you standing near commodore
Rodgers when he first hailed the Little Belt ?

Answer. I was standing at his elbow.

Question. Had the Little Belt then hailed the

President ?

Answer. I did not hear the Little Belt hail the

President.

Question. When commodore Rodgers hailed the

Little Belt, was there any reply from her ; and, if any,

what was the nature of it ?

Answer. I did not hear any reply.

Question. Was sufficient time given by commo-
dore Rodgers for the Little Belt to have answered

his hail ?
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Answer. There was sufficient time given in my
opinion.

Question. Did commodore Rodgers hail the Lit-

tle Belt a second time ; and, if so, how soon ?

Answer. He in a few minutes hailed the Little

Belt again.

Question. Did the commodore receive any an-

swer to his second hail ; and, if so, what was its

purport ?

Answer. I heard no reply from the Little Belt.

Question. At the time of commodore Rodgers'
second hailing, did you hear the report of a gun ?

Answer. I did.

Question. Were you in a position to observe the

Little Belt, at the time the said gun was fired ?

Answer. I was : I was standing looking out of the

gang way at the Little Belt.

Question. Was the said gun fired from the Little

Belt?

Answer. It was ; I saw the flash and heard the

report.

Question. At this time, had any gun been fired

from the President, or any provocation whatever been
given by the commodore to the captain of the Little

Beit?

Answer. No gun had at this time been fired by
the President ; and I know not of any provocation
having been given, by the commodore, to the captain

of the Little Belt.

Question. After the President opened her fire

upon the Little Belt, was the latter ship silenced

and how soon?
Answer. The Little Belt was silenced, to the best

of my recollection, in five or six minutes.

Question. When the fire of the Little Belt was
silenced, did the commodore appear anxious to pre-

vent further injury being done to her?

Answer. He did appear very much so ; orders to
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that effect were passed fro n him to every division of
guns.

Question. Did the fire of the President thereupon
cease; and did the Little Belt renew her fire.. ..and
in what time"?

Answer. The fire of the President ceased as soon
as the orders were received; and in about two mi-
nutes after, the fire of the Little Belt was renewed.

Question. Did the President then recommence
her fire; and was the Little Belt again silenced.....

and how soon ?

Answer. The President then recommenced her
fire, and in about six minutes afterwards the guns of
the Little Belt were silenced.

Question. When the fire of the Little Belt was
silenced a second time, did commodore Rodgers
make every exertion to prevent further injury being
done to her ?

Answer. He did, sir.

Ques ion. Have you seen commodore Rodgers'
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. I have.

Question. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. I know of none.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Was the Pre-

sident, at any time during the rencounter, on fire ?

Answer. No.
Question by commodore Rodgers. Did the Pre-

sident sheer off, with a view to avoid the Little Belt,

at any time during the action ?

Answer. No.
Question by commodore Rodgers. In the position

the two ships were at the time I gave orders, a second
time, to cease firing, what would, in your opinion,

have been the effect of another broadside from the

president 9



255

Answer. Utter destruction to the Little Belt.

Question by commodore Rodgers. At the time

I gave orders to stop the lire of the- President, the se-

cond time, did you hear a hail from the Little Belt

sa} ing, " her colors are down" ?

Answer. I heard three or four hails at that time

from the Little Belt, which I understood to that effect,

and so reported them to the commodore.
Question by commodore Rodgers* Has it been

the invariable practice on board the President, as well

as the usage of the service, 10 prepare tor aption be-

fore going along side of a strange vessel of war?
Answer. It has.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did I, after

the fire of the Little Belt was silenced, or at any other

time, ask her commander if he had struck his colors?

If not, be pleased to state to the court what my en-

quiry was.

Answer. The commodore did not then, or at any

other time, ask the commander of the Little Belt if he
had struck his colors ; but the commodore's question

was, " Did you say you had struck your colors ?"

Question by commodore Rodgers. What reply

did the command; r of the Little Belt make to my
question of, " Did you say you had struck your
colors ?"

Answer. I could not distinctly hear the reply that

was made to that question, but I heard at the time
several of our own men say, he (the commander of the

Little Belt) says, " Ay, ay, I am in great distress."

Question by commodore Rodgers. Were lights

displayed from the President during the night, after

the action, so that her position might have been ob-

served by the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes.

Andrew L. B. Madison, was produced to

the court and sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'
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frigate the President, during the action, on the night

of the 16th day of May last, with his Britannic majes-

ty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes.

Question. Do you hold any and what station on
board the United States' frigate the President ?

Answer. Lieutenant of marines.

Question. Where were you quartered, on board

the frigate President, at the time of the action ?

Answer. On the gang- ways.

Question. Where were you standing at the time

commodore Rodgers hailed the Little Belt ?

Answer. I was standing on the combings of the

main-hatch, on the larboard side.

Question. Had the Little Belt then hailed the

President ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. When commodore Rodgers hailed the

Little Belt, was there any reply from her ; and, if so,

what was the nature o. it ?

Answer. I heard no reply.

Question. Did commodore Rodgers hail the Lit-

tle Belt a second time; and, if so, how soon ?

Answer. He did, in fifteen or eighteen seconds.

Question. Was sufficient time given by commo-
dore Rodgers for the Little Belt to have answered his

first hail, before the commodore hailed her a second

time ?

Answer. There was.

Question. Did commodore Rodgers receive any

reply to his second hail ; and, if any, what was its

purport ?

Answer. He received no reply ; but the Little

Belt fired a gun, from near her gang- way.

Question. Were you in a position to observe the

Little Belt, at the time she fired that gun ?

Answer. Yes : I was looking directly at the Lit-

tle Belt when she fired....saw the flash and heard the

yeport.
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Question. When the Little Belt fired the said gUn,

had any gun been previously fired from the frigate

President, or any provocation been giw. n by commo-
dore Rodgers to the commander of the Little Belt?

Answer. No gun had then betn fired from the

President, nor Intd any provocation been given by the

commodore to the commander of the Little Belt.

Question. What time el ipscd before the President

returned the fire of the Little Belt, and how many
guns were fired from the President before the Little

Belt commenced a general fire?

Answer. The President fired one gun in about six

seconds after having received the shot of the Litrle

Belt, and immediately the latter ship fired three guns,

and instantly after the rest of her broadside and mus-
ketiv.

Question. After the President commenced firing

upon the little Belt, was the latter ship silenced, and
in what time ?

Answer. The Little Belt in six or seven minutes

after that time was silenced, \\ hen immediate orders

were passed to cease firing.

Question. Did the President then cease firing,

and did the Little Belt thereupon renew her fire, and

how soon ?

Answer. The President ceased her fire, and the

Little Belt in about two or three minutes after renew-

ed her fire.

Question. Did the President then recommence
her fire, and was the Little Belt again silenced, and

how soon ?

Answer. The President renewed her fire, which
continued four or five minutes, when the guns of the

Little Belt were again silenced, and orders were im-

mediately passed to me to cease firing.

Question. At the several times when the guns of

the Little Belt were s l< need, did commodore Rod-
gers exert himself to prevent further injuiy being;

done to her ?

33
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Answer. Yes, orders were immediately passed to

cease firing.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers*
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative

to the action with the Little Belt?

Answer. I have, sir.

Question. Are there any circumstances therein

stated which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. None.
Question by commodore Rodgers. Was the Pre-

sident at any time on fire, or did she sheer off during

the action with a view to avoid the Little Belt ?

Answer, The President was not at any time on
fire, nor did she sheer off during the action with a

view to avoid the Little Belt.

Captain Caldwell, of marines, idas again

produced to the court and examined.

Question. What time elasped before the Presi-

dent returned the fire of the Little Belt, and were
any, and how many guns fired from the President be-

fore the Little Belt commenced a general fire ?

Answer. Five or six seconds elapsed before the

President returned the fire of che Little Belt, by firing

one gun, and immediately the latter ship fired three

guns, and instantly the rest of her broadside and her

musketry*

The court adjourned to meet at the same place to*

morrow morning at 11 o'clock.

Wednesday, the 4th September, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, } mem5ers<
Captain Isaac Chauncey, $
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The proceedings of the court of yesterday were

read and approved.

Jacob Mull was produced to t/ie court and sworn
as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States

frigate the President, during the action on the night

of the 16th day of May last, with his Britannic

majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you hold any and what station on
board the said frigate the President ?

Answer. The station of sailing- master.

Question. On the night of the 16th day of May-

last, where were you quartered on board the said iri-

gate the President ?

Answer. On the quarter deck.

Question. When within hailing distance did com-
modore Rodgers hail the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Had the President at that time been

hailed by the Little Beit

?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Did commodore Rodgers hail the Little

Belt again, and was sufficient time given for her to

answer him before his second hail?

Answer. The commodore hailed the Little Belt a

second time, sufficient tim- having been given to have

received an answer from the Little Belt before the

commodore's second hail.

Question. Was any, and what answer given by
the commander of the Little Belt to either hail of

commodore Rodgers?
Answer. There was an answer given, I think, to

the first hail of the commodore ; the commander of

the Little Belt said halloo ; to the second hail of

commodore Rodgers there was no answer, but in-

stantly the Little Belt fired a shot, which I thought
struck the frigate President.
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Question. Were you looking at the Little Belt at

the time she fired that shot ?

Answer. I was, but could not see her hull.

Question. At the time the Little Belt fired the said

gun, hnd any gun been fired from the President, or

any provocation whatever been given by commodore
Rodgers to the captain of the Little Belt ?

Answer. No gun had then been fired from the Presi-

dent, nor had any provocation whatever been given by
c.on.modore R dgtrs to the captain of the Little Belt.

Question. What time eiaps>eci be lore the President

returned the first gun of the Littie Belt, and were
there any, and how many guns fired from the Presi-

dent before the Littie Belt commenced a general

fire ?

Answer- Perhaps three or four seconds elapsed

before the President returned the said gun ; there was
only one gun fired from the President before the

Little Belt commenced a general fire.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers's
official letter to the secretary oi cite navy; dand off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Ques'ion. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect?

Answer None, sir.

Question by c< mmodore Rodgers. What was your
impression as to :he force of the Little Belt, from the

time you first observed her until the termination of the

firing, or indeed until her force was ascertained the

next morning?
Answer. I thought she was a large sized frigate

until we came within hail of her the next day.

Question by commodore Rodgers. What was the

duration of the action, and was there any cessation

and how long ?

Answer. The action continued fourteen or fifteen
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minutes, during which time there was a cessation ot

the fire of both ships ot about three minutes.

Question by commodore Rodgers. When the Little

Belt's fire was finally silenced, could her guns have

been brought to bear had her commander wished to

fire again ?

Answer. They could.

Question by commodore Rodgers. In the position

the two ships were at the time I gave orders a second

time to cease firing, what would, in your opinion,

have been the effect of another broadside trom the

President ?

Answer. I think it would have sunk the Little Belt.

Lieutenant John Orde Creighton was
again produced to the court and examined.

Question by commodore Rodgers. What was your

impression as to the force of the Little Belt, from the

time vou fi rs t observed her until the termination of

the firing, or indeed until her force was ascertained

the next morning?
Answer. I was under the impression that the Little

Belt was a frigate, until doubts were excited in my
mind by the feeble resistance she made in the action ;

and on the following morning, I was stiil of opinion

that she was a frigate^ when we first disco\ered her,

and until we got so near her as to be certain of her

force.

Question by cnnmiodore Rodgers. Did I ask you,

immediately on your return from the Little Belt, if hep

wheel had not been carried away ?

Answer. Yes, sir; the commodore asked me that

question.

Question by commodore Rodgers. From the Little

Belt's manoeuvres the night of the rencounter, did

you suppose her wheel had been shot away ?

Answer. I think there was great want of conduct
on board the Little Belt ; she did not make tint de-

fence which a ship of her force ought to have made.
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Question by commodore Rodgers. Did captain

Bingham inform you that he had not seen our colors ?

Answer. Captain Bingham said to me, the Presi-

dent's colors had not been hoisted ; I replied to him,
ihey had been hoisted from the moment we discover-

ed him to be a ship of war : he then said, your mizzen
top sail would prevent me from seeing it ; to which I

replied, he must have seen our pendant, as it shewed
distinctly above the royals : he then said, Yes, I re-

collect... my officers, .
who are better acquainted here

than I am, told me you wore a burgee.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Is it the usage

of the service to prepare for action before going along

side of a strange vessel of war ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

The court adjourned to meet to-morrow morning
at 11 o'clock at the same place.

Thursday
t
the 5th of September, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, ? ,

r-
'

4
• T n , > members.

Captain Isaac Chauncey, $

The proceedings of the court of yesterday were
read and approved.

Joseph Smith was produced to the court and
sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th day of

Mav last, and wras there then an action between her

and his Britannic majesty' ship the Little Belt?
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Answer. I was, on the night of that day, on board

the said frigate the President ; and there was then an

action between her and the said ship the Little Beit.

Question. Do you hold any, and what station, on

board the suid frigate the President; and where were

you quartered at the time of the said action?

Answer. I am a midshipman, acting as master's

mate, on board the President ; and, at the time of the

said action, commanded the subdivision of the fourth

division of guns on the forecastle.

Question. On the night of the said action, did you
hear commodore Rodders hail the Little Belt, and at

what hour ; and was there any, and what reply, given

to the commodore ?

Answer. At 8 o'clock of the night of the said ac-

tion, or nearly at that hour, I heard commodore Rod-
gers hail the Little Belt.... to which I did not hear any
reply.

Question. Did commodore Rodgers hail the Little

Belt a second time, and how soon ; and was there any,

and what reply, from her

?

Answer. The commodore hailed the Little Belt

a second time in about five seconds, to which I heard

no reply.

Question. Did you, at the time of commodore
Rodgers' second hail, or at any other, and what time,

hear the report of a gun ?

Answer. I saw the flash, and heard the report of

a gun almost immediately after commodore Rodgers'
second hail.

Question. When you saw the flash and heard the

report of said gun, were vou in a position to observe
the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir, I was standing on the slide of

the after gun on the forecastle looking directly at the

Little Belt.

Question. Was the said gun fired from the Little

Belt?
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Answer. It was, sir.

Questi >n. When the Little Belt fired the said

gun, had any gun been fired by the President, or any

provocation whatever been given by commodore
Rodgers to the commander of the Little Belt ?

Answer. At that time there had no' any gun been

fired from the President, nor had any provocation that

I know of been given by the commodore to the cap-

tain of the Little Belt.

Question. Did the President return the fire of the

Little Belt, and how soon, and did the President fire

one or more guns in return?

Answer. The President returned the fire of the

Little Belt in four or five seconds by firing one gun
only.

Question. Did the Little Belt thereupon immedi-

ately commence a general lire?

Answer. I heard three guns fired from the Little

Belt, immediately after the President had fired the

said gun.

Question. Have yo 1 seen commodore Rodgers'

official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt?

Answer. I have.

Question. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect?

Answer. There are none.

Question by commodore Rodgers. What was

your impression as to the force of the Little Belt,

from the time you firs: observed her, until the termi-

nation of the firing, or indeed until her force was as-

certained the next morning?
Answer. I took her to be a frigate.

Question by commodore Rodgers* What was the

duration of the action, and was there any cessation

and how long ?

Answer. I suppose the action to have lasted from
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twelve to fourteen minutes ; there was a cessation of
two :ind a half or three minutes.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did you
twice, during the rencounter, receive orders to cease

firing ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question by commodore Rodgers. At the several

times the said orders to cease firing were passed to

you, particularly the last, did commodore Rodgers
make every exertion to prevent further injury being

done to the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, both times; I received the last

time the orders from three different officers, to cease

firing.

Henry Denison was produced to the court and
sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States

frigate the President, on the night of 16th day ofMay
last, and was there an engagement between her and
his Brhannick majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. I was then on board the said frigate the

President, when an action took place between her

and a vessel which afterwards proved to be the Little

Belt.

Question. Do you hold any and what station on
board the said frigate the President, and where were

you quartered at the time of the action aforesaid ?

Answer. I am acting chaplain, and at the time o£

the said action was quartered on the quarter deck.

Question. On tht night of the said action did

you hear commodore Rodgers, and at what hour,

hail the Little Belt, and how often ; and was there any,

and what answer given by her?

Answer. About a quarter past 8 o'clock on the

night of the said action, when within about seventy

or eighty yards of the Little Belt, I heard commo-
dore Rodgers hail her, and ask " what ship is that ?"

34
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to which enquiry the Little Belt, in about two seconds,

replied by putting the same question of " what ship

is that?" after a short interval the commodore repeat-

ed his first question of " what ship is that?" to which
no reply was given.

Question. Did you at the time of commodore
Rodgers' second enquiry of "what ship is that," or

at any other, and what time, hear the report of a gun ?

Answer. Directly after commodore Rodgers' se-

cond hail I heard the report of a gun.

Question. When you heard the report of the said

gun were ycu in a position to observe the Little Belt ?

Answer. I was not.

Question. Was the said gun fired from the Little

Belt?

Answer. From my position just at the moment,
I could not see any flash, but from not then feeling

any jar of the President, my belief was that the said

p-un was fired from the Little Belt.

Question. At that time had any gun been fired

from the President, or any provocation been given by
commodore Rodgers to the captain of the Little

Belt?

Answer. No gun had then been fired from the Presi-

dent, neither in my opinion had any provocation been

given by commodore Rodgers to the captain of the

Little Belt, as no other conversation had passed be-

tween them than what I have mentioned took place

at the several times of hailing.

Question. Have you st^i commodore Rodgers'

official lener to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, en the 23d day of Tuay last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Quesuon. Are there any circumstances therein

stated which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. Not anv-
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Michael Roberts was produced to the conn
and sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President on the night of the 16th day of

May last, and was there then any engagement be-

tween her and his Britannick majesty's ship the Lit-

tle Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you hold any, and what station, on
board the said frigate the President, and where were
you quartered at the time of the said action ?

Answer. I am boatswain of the President, and
was at the time of the said action quartered on the

forecastle.

Question. When within hailing distance, did ei-

ther, and which ship hail, and from which of the said

ships did the first hail proceed ?

Answer. When the President and the Little Belt

were within hailing distance of each other, commodore
Rodgers first hailed the latter ship.

Question. Did you hear, and at what time, the

report of a gun, and were you then observing the

Little Belt, and did it proceed from her ?

Answer. To the best of mv recollection, at the

time commodore Rodgers hailed the Little Belt, I was
standing on the larboard side of the forecastle belay-

ing the weather jib sheet, and then saw tiie flash, and
instantly turning my head towards the Little Belt I

heard the report of a gun, and saw that it proceeded
from her.

Question. When you saw the flash and heard the

report of the said gun, had there been any gun fired

from the President ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. At that time had commodore Rodgers
given any provocation whatever to the captain of the

Little Belt?



268

Answer. None that I heard or saw.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers'
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative

to the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. No, sir.

The court adjourned to meet at the same place to-

morrow morning at 1 1 o'clock.

Friday, the 6th September, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president.

Captain Charles Stewart, ) .

^ v i r>, > members.
Captain Isaac Lnauncey, $

The proceedings of the court of yesterday were

read and approved.

Richard Carson was produced to the court and
sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th day of

May last ; and was there an engagement between her

and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Do you hold any, and what station, on

board the said frigate the President; and where were

you quartered at the time of the said action ?

Answer. I am a midshipman on board the Presi-

dent ; and, at the time of the said action, was quar-

tered on the forecastle and gang- ways.

Question. Did you, on the night of the sa^l action,

hear commodore Rodgers hail the Little Belt, and at
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what hour, and how often; and was there any, "and

what reply, made to tin commodore ?

Answer. At about 8 o'clock, on the night of the

aforesaid action, I heard commodore Rodgers hail the

Little Belt bv askipg " what ship is that?" to which
enquiry the Little Belt replied by repeating the ques-

tion of " what ship is that "?" in a short time the com-
modore hailed the Little Belt again, asking "what
ship is that?" to which question she replied with a

shot.

Question. Were you looking at the Little Belt

when she fired the said shot, and did you see the flash

and hear the report of the gun which she then fire d ?

Answer. 1 was then looking at the Li. tie Belt, ,md
saw the flash and instantly heard the report of the

gun which she then hied.

Question. Was the said gun fired from the Little

Belt without any previous provocation or justifiable

cause ?

Answer. There had then been no gun firtd from
the President, nor had any conversation, other than the

hailing I have previously mentioned, passed between
commodore Rodgers and the captain of the Little

Belt.

Question. Was the gun which had been fired from

the Little Belt returned by the President, and how
soon, and did she fire one or more guns in return?

Answer. The President immediately fired one

gun only in return.

Question. Did the Little Belt, as soon as the gun
she fired had been answered by the President, com-
mence a general fire ?

Answer. She did.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers'

official letter to the secretary of the navy, elated oft*

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. There are none.

Matthew C. Perry was sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President on the night of the 16th day
of May last, and was there an engagement between
her and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. I was then on board the said frigate the

President when there was an action between her and
the said ship the Little Belt ?

Question. Do you hold any, and what station, on
Board the said frigate the President, and where were
you quartered at the time of the said action ?

Answer. lam a midshipman on board the said

frigate the President, and at the time of the said ac-

tion was stationed on the quarter deck.

Question. On the night of the said action did you
hear commodore Hodgers hail the Little Belt, and at

what hour, ;uid how often, and was there any, and
what reply gren to the commodore ?

Answer. Commodore Rodgers, at about 8 o'clock

on the night of the said action, hailed the Little Belt,

ard asked " what ship is that?" To which the captain

of the Little Belt replied by echoing the commodore's
previous question of " what ship is that ?" Immedi-
ately after, commodore Rodgers again hailed the Little

Belt, by repeating his former inquiry of " what ship

is thai r" :o which there was no reply, but instanta-

neously the Little Beit fired a gun.

Question At the time the Little Belt fired the said

gun, had there been any gun fired from the President,

or any provocation given by commodore Rodgers to

the commander of the Lime Belt?

Answer. When the Little Belt fired the said gun,

the President had not fired at all, nor had any provo-

cation been given by commodore Rodgers to the

captain of the Little Belt.
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Question. Was the gun which had been first fired

from the Little Belt, answered by the President, and
how soon, and did she fire one, or a greater number
of guns, in return?

Answer. The President, in from five to seven se-

conds, returned the said gun fired from the Little

Belt, by firing one gun only.

Question. Did the Little Belt, immediately after

the gun fired from her had been answered by the Pre-

sident, commence a general fire ?

Answer. She did.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers*
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated oft'

Sandy-Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. I have.

Question. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter, which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. There are none.

Silas Duncan was sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th day of

May last ; and was there then an action between her

and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. I was, on that night, on board the said

frigate the President ; and there was then an action

between her and the said ship the Little Belt.

Question. Do you hold any, and what station, on
board the said frigate the President ; and where were
you quartered at the time of the said action ?

Answer. I am a midshipman on board the said

frigate the President ; and was, at the time, quartered

in the fore top.

Question. On the night of the said action, did you
hear commodore Rodgers hail the Little Belt ; and at

what hour, and how often ; and was there any, and
what answer, given to the commodore?



272

Answer. Immediately before the action commenced
betv e( n the President and Little Belt, I heard com-
modore Rodgers hail the latter, by asking " What
ship is that ?" when, I think, the commander of the

Little Belt replied by repeating the commodore's pre-

vious question. In a very short time afterwards,

commodore Rodgers repeated his question of " What
ship is that ?" to which I did not hear any reply.

Question. Did you, at the time of commodore
Rodgers' second hail, or at any other, and what time,

hear the report of a gun ; and did it proceed from the

Presiden or the Little Belt ?

Answer. Immediately after commodore Rodgers*

second hail, I heard the report of two guns in quick

succession ; but, from my position at the moment, I

could not ascertain from which ship the report pro-

ceeded ; but my impression was, that the first gun
I heard was fired from the Little Belt, and that the

President had fired a shot in return. At the time I

heard the report of the first gun, the fore-topsail being

between me and the Little Belt, 1 could not see her.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers*

official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated, off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes.

Question. Are there circumstances stated in that

letter which you know to be incorrect?

Answer. I know of none.

John H. Clack was sworn as a witness.

Question. Were }ou on board the United States*

frigate the President, on the night pf the 16th day of

May last, and was there then an action between her and-

his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. I was at that time on board the said fri-

gate the President wh< n there was an action between

her and the said ship the Little Belt.
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Question. Do you hold any, and what station on

board the said frigate the President, and where were

you quartered at the time of the said action ?

Answer. I am a midshipman on board the said

frigate, and was stationed at the time of the said ac-

tion, in the mizzen top.

Question. When the President came within hail

of the Little Belt did you hear commodore Rodgers
hail her, and how often ?

Answer. When the President came within hailing

distance of the Little Belt, I heard the commodore hail

her twice.

Question. Was there any and what reply made
from the Little Belt?

Answer. There was no reply from the Little Belt,

but to the commodore's first hail the Little Belt hail-

ed in return.

Question. Were you observing the Little Belt

when the first gun was fired ?

Answer. I could not see her when I heard the re-

port of the first sun.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun?
Answer. I cannot positively say ; the impression

on my mind was, that the Little Belt fired the first

gun.
'

Question. Were there any, and what circum-

stances, which induced you to believe that the Little

Belt fired the first gun ?

Answer. There were several ; at the time the first

gun was fired, I did not feel any jar ; but when imme-
diately after I saw the President fire a gun, I very

sensibly felt the jar.

Qui stion. Have you seen commodore Rodgers*
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are there any circumstances therein

stated which you know to be incotrect 9

35
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Answer. There are none.

The court adjourned to meet to-morrow, at the

same place, at 11 o'clock.

Saturday, the 1th September, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, ~)
.

r- • i r>u t- members.Captain Isaac Cnauncey, $

The proceedings of the court of yesterday were

read and approved.

Thomas Gamble was sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you, on the night of the 16th

day of May last, on board the United States' frigate

the President, and was there then an action between

her and his Britannick majesty's ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. I was then on board the said frigate the

President, when there was an action between her and

the said ship the Little Belt.

Question. What was your station on board the

said frigate the President, and where were you quar-

tered at the time of the said action ?

Answer. I was second lieutenant of the said fri-

gate, commanding the first division of guns.

Question. When the said frigate came within

hailing distance of the Little Belt, did commodore
Rodgers hail her i

Answer. When within hailing distance I heard

the commodore hail the Little Belt very distinctly.
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Question. Was there any, and what reply to

commodore Rodgers' hail, from the Little Bell?

Answer. To the first hail of "ship ahoy !" of the

commodore, the answer from the Little Belt was

"halloo!" whereupon commodore Rodgers asked
" what ship is that ?" to which enquiry the Litle Belt

replied by repeating the same question of " what ship

is that?" in the course of four or five seconds after,

the commodore again inquired " what ship is that?"

to which there was no reply from the Little Belt.

Question. Was a gun fired at this time, and were

you observing the Little Belt, and from whence did

the fire proceed?

Answer. At the time of commodore Rodgers'

first hail of " what ship is that ?" I was looking out

of a port at the Little Belt, and from her repetition of

the commodore's previous question, 1 was under an

apprehension that some difficulty might occur, and

withdrew from the port : I then heard commodore
Rodgers hail the Little Belt again, immediately after

which 1 heard the report of a gun, which I am con-

fident proceeded from the Little Belt, as the report

appeared distant and I felt no concussion.

Question. When you heard the report of the said

gun, had a gun been fired from the said frigate the

President, or had any provocation whatsoever been

given by commodore Rodgers to the commander of

the said ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. At that time not a gun had been fired

from the President, nor had any provocation beun

given by the commodore to the commander of the

Little Belt ?

Question. Are you sure that the first gun was not

fired from the division that you commanded in the

aforesaid action ?

Answer. I am certain it was not ; it was not pos-

sible that a gun could have then been fired Irom the

division I commanded without my knowledge.
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Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers'
official letter to ihe secretary of the navy , dated off

Sandy Hook on ihe 23d day of May last, relative to

the aci ion with the Little Belt ?

Answer. I have.

Question. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. There are &bri@.

Question by co< v.odore Rodgers. What were
commodore Rodgers' ord< rs on board the frigate Pre-
sident, before coming up with the Li tie Beit ?

Answer. The commodores onlers were at this

time, to be very particular not to fire a gun, unless
the chase fired fist.

Question by commodore Rodgers. What des-
cription of shot were fired from your division during
the ssid rencounter with the Little Belt?

Answer. From the division I then commanded,
there was nothing but round and grape sho; fired.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did you hear
any h til from the Little Belt, previously to commo-
dore Rodgers having hailed her, and were you in a
situation to have heard if there had been any previous
haii from that ship ?

Answer. My situation was such that I must have
heard, if the Little Belt had first hailed the Presi-

dent ; and I feel positive the first hail proceeded from
commodore Rodgers.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Was the Pre-
sident at any time on fire during the rencounter with
the Little Belt ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did the Pre-
sident at any time during the rencounter with the

Little Belt, sheer off with a view to avoid her.

Answer. She did not.

Question by commodore Rodgers. In the situa-

tion the two ships were at the time the Little Belt's

fire was finally silenced, what in your opinion would
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have been the effect of another broadside from the

President ?

Answer. It is my opinion it would have sunk the

Little Belt.

Question by commodore Rodgers. As soon as the

fire of the Little Belt was finally silenced, did com-
modore Rodgers exert himself to prevent further in-

jury being done to her?

Answer. The commodore did ; I heard him on the

gun deck about the main- hatch, ordering to cease

firing.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did you see

any colours hoisted on beard the Little Belt during
the chase, and were you then in a situation to have

seen them had she displayed any ?

Answer. I was in a situation to have seen the Little

Beh's colors, had she display ed any : I was sitting in

the bridle-port, looking at her with a spy-glass, the

greater part of the chase, and did not observe any co-

lors displayed by her.

Question by commodore Rodgers. What was your
impression as to the force of the Little Belt, from the

time you first observed her until the termination of

the firing, or indeed, until her force was discovered

the next day?
Answer. I was under the impression she was a

frigate of thirty- six or thirty-eight guns, until the

morning after the action.

Alexander James Dallas was sworn as a
witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th &a\ of

May last ; and was there then an action between her

and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where were
you quartered, on board the said frigate the President,

at the time of the said action ?
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Answer. I was at that time third lieutenant of the

said frigate, commanding the second division of her

guns.

Question. When within hailing distance, did you
hear commodore Rodgers hail the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there any, and what reply thereto

from the Little Belt?

Answer. Halloo, was the reply thereto from the

Little Belt?

Question. Did commodore Rodgers thereupon

ask, " What ship is that ?"

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was there any, and what reply to thaj;

question from the Little Belt ?

Answer. The commodore's question of " what
ship is that ?" was reiterated from the Little Belt.

Question. Did commodore Rodgers again hail

" what ship is that ?" and was there any and what re-

ply thereto, from the Little Belt ?

Answer. I heard the commodore again say some-
thing, the tendency of which I did not distinctly com-
prehend, but immediately after a gun was fired from
the Little Beit.

Question. Where were you when the Little Belt

fired that gun, and were you then looking at her, and
did you see the Mash and hear the report of the said

.gun ?

Answer. I was leaning or sitting, I do not know
which, looking at the Little Belt out of the first

port forward of the starboard gangway, and saw a

flash from her and heard two reports.

Question. When you saw the flash and heard the

reports aforesaid, had a gun been fired from the Pre-

sident, or had any provocation whatever been given

bv commodore Rodgers to the commander of the

Little Belt ?

Answer. No gun had then been fired from the
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President, nor had any provocation been given by
the commodore to the commander of the Little Belt.

Question. Was the gun you saw fired from the

Little Belt returned by the President, and from which

division and how soon, and did the President fire one

or more guns in return ?

Answer. As soon as I perceived the flash and
heard the reports from the Little Belt, I got in from

the port and fired a gun from the second division

which I then commanded. The time between see-

ing the flash and hearing the reports, and of firing the

gun from the said division, I suppose to have been

four or five seconds. The President fired only one

gun in return.

Question. Did the Little Belt thereupon com-
mence a general fire ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What were commodore Rodgers' or-

ders on board the President, before coming up with

the Little Belt?

Answer. They were to fire on no account, with-

out orders from the quarter deck, or unless she fired

first.

Question. Had you received any order other than

the above, when you fired your first gun ?

Answer. I had not then received any other than
the above orders.

Question. Did you hear any hail from the Little

Belt previously to commodore Rodgers' having
hailed her?

^
Answer. I heard no hail from the Little Belt pre-

viously to the comracdore's having hailed her.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers*
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Are there any circumstances therein

stated which you know to be incorrect?

Answer. There are none, sir.

Question by commodore Rodgers. What descrip-

tion of shot were fired from the division you com-
manded during the said engagement?

Answer. Round and grape shot, and none other.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Was the Pre-

sident on hre at any time during the said action ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did the Pre-

sident at any time during the said action sheer off

with a view to avoid the Little Belt?

Answer. No, sir.

Question by commodore Rodgers. In the situation

the two ships wt re at the time the Little Belt's fire was

finally silenced, what, in your opinion, would have

been the effect of another broadside from the President ?

Answer. Another broadside from the President

would, in all probability , have sunk the Little Belt.

Question by commodore Rodgers. As soon as the

fire of the Little Belt was silenced finally, did com-

modore R di/ers exert himself to prevent further in-

jury being done to her ?

Answer. He did. The commodore came down
on the gun deck, and gave orders to cease firing.

The court adjourned, to meet on Monday next,

at the same place, at eleven o'clock in the morning.

Monday, 9tb of September, 1811.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, >
membcrs-

Captain Isaac Lnauncey, 3

The proceedings of the court of Saturday last were

read and approyed.
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John M. Funk was produced and sworn as a
witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th day of

INL-v last, and was there then an action between her

and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said irigate the Pre-

sident, at the time of the said action ?

Answer. I was then fourth lieutenant of the said

frigate, commanding the third division, and was quar-

ter* d on the gun deck.

Question. When within hailing distance, did you
hear commodore Rodgers hail the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I did.

Question. Was there any, and what answer there-

to, from the Little Belt ?

Answer. There was a reply thereto from the Lit-

tle Belt, but I could not distinctly understand what
was said.

Question. Did commodore Rodgers hail the

Little Belt again, and how soon, and was there any
and what reply thereto from her ?

Answer. After sufficient time had elapsed for an
answer from the Little Belt, the commodore hailed

htr agayi, to which I did not heat any reply.

Question. Was a gun fired from the Little Belt,

and at what time ?

Answer. Immediately after the commodore again,

hailed the Little Belt, I heard :he report oi a gun,
which I am confident proceeded from her, as the re-

port c.me from 'hat di' c ion, and I kit no jar. I

was not then looking) atthi Little Belt.

Question. When you -hi rt of the said

gun, had any gu ' been fiu d from the President, or

had any provocation whatever been given by commo-
36
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dore Rodgers to the commander of the Little Belt ?

Answer. Not any gun had th^n been fired from the

President, nor had any provocation been given by the

commodore to the commander of the Little Belt,

Question. Are you certain thu first gun was not

fired from the division you commanded in the said

action?

Answer. Yes, sir, I am certain it was not.

Question. \\ as the gun, which had been fired

from the Little Belt, returned by the President, and
how soon, and did the President fire one or more
guns in return?

Answer. It was returned by a single gun from
the President, in five or six seconds.

Question. Did the Little Belt thereupon com-
mence a general fire ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Did you receive any and what orders,

from commodore Rodgers, before coming up with
the Little Belt ?

Answer. The orders I received, previously to

coming up with the Little Belt, were not to fire, with-

out orders from the quarter deck, unless she fired

first.

Question. Did you hear any hail from the Little

Belt previously to commodore Rodgers' having hail-

ed her?

Answer. No, sir.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers*

official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the said action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. Theie are none.

Question by commodore Rodgers, What descrip-
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iion of shot were fired during the action, from the

division you then commanded ?

Answer. None other than round and grape shot.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Was the Pre-

sident on fire at any time during the said action ?

Answer. Not to my knowledge.

Question by commodore Rodgers. Did the Presi-

dent at any time during the said action sheer off,

with a view to avoid the Little Belt ?

Answer. No, sir.

Question by commodore Rodgers. In the situation

the two ships were at the time the Little Belt's fire

was finally silenced, what in your opinion would have
been the effect of another broad side from the Presi-

dent ?

Answer. I think, sir, it would have sunk the Little

Belt.

Question by commodore Rodgers. As soon as

the fire of the Little Belt was finally silenced, did

commodore Rodgers exert himself to prevent further

injury being done to the Little Belt ?

Answer. He did, sir.

Peter Gamble was produced and sworn as «
witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States

frigate the President on the night of the 16th day of

May last, and was there then an action between her

and his Britannick majesty's ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where

were you quartered on board the said frigate the Pre-

sident at the time of said action ?

Answer. I was then a midshipman on board the

said frigate, and was quartered on the gun deck in the

second division.

Question. Did the Little Belt commence the

said action by firing the first gun ?
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Answer. At the time the first gun was fired I was
not looking at ihe Li tie Belt, but in consequence of

the report coming from the direction in which she

then was, and from my not feeling .my jar at that

time, lam confident she fired the first gun.

Question. When you beard the report of the said

gun had any gun been fired horn the division in

whicn you were then stationed, or had any provoca-

tion been given by commodore Rodgers to the com-
mander of the Li tie Beh ?

Answer. At thai time no gun had been fired from
the division in which I was then stationed, nor had
any provocation, that 1 kr.ow of, been given by com-
modore Hougers to the commander of the Little

Belt.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers 3

official ietter to the secretary of the navy, bearing date

ofi' Sandy Ho^k, on the 23d day of May last, relative

to the said action wi h the Li;tle Beit?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Are there any circurmtances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect?

Answer. I do not know that any circumstances
therein stated are incorrect.

Edward Babbet was produced to t/ie court

and sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate President, on the night of the 16th day of
IVitfV hist, and was there then an action between her
and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. Ye*, si .

Question. What was your sta'ion and where were
you quartered, on board the s;ud frigate the Presi-

dent, at the time of the said action?

Answer. I was then a midshipman on board the
said frigate, and was quartered in the third division on
the gun decko
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Question. Did the Little Belt commence the said

action by firing the first gun, and were you ihen look-

ing at her ?

Answer. Yes, sir, I was looking at her when she

fired the first gun, and saw the flash and heard the re-

port of it.

Question. Was the said gun fired from t!ie Li'tle

Belr without any previous provocation or justifiable

cause ?

Answer. It was.

Question. Rave you seen commodore Rodders'
official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative to

the action with the Little Belt?

Answer. I have heard it read.

Question. Arc there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer. There are none.

Lieutenant John Orde Creighton ivas

produced and re-examined.

Question by a member of the court. During the

night after the affair between the P. - sident and the

Little Belt, had the President lights hoisted?

Answer. She had.

Jacob Mull was produced and re-examined.

Question. Were there any, and what injuries sus-

tained by the President, in the afLir between her and
the Little Belt, on the night of the 16th day of May
last ?

Answer. The President, in that affair, sustained

none other than the injuries which follow: one boy
was wounded, one shot struck her main-mast, another

struck her fore mast ; two of the fore, two of the main
and one of the mizzen shrouds, the starboard main-
top-mast, breast back stay, and some of the running
rigging, were cut away, and several shot went through
the sails.
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Question. Did any shot from the Little Belt strike

the hull of the President, in the said affair?

Answer. Not one of any description.

Edward Rutledge Sherbrick was produced

and sworn as a wit?iess.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th day of

May last, and was there then an action between her

and his Britannic majesty' ship the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where were
you quartered, on board the said frigate the President,

at the time of the said action?

Answer. I was then a midshipman, on board the

said frigate, and was stationed forward, on the gun-

deck, in the first division.

Question. Did the Little Belt commence the said

action by firing the first gun ; and were you then

looking at her, and did you sec the flash and hear the

report of it ?

Answer. She did commence the action by firing

the first gun ; I was looking at her through one of the

ports, and saw the flash and heard the report of it.

Question. Was the said gun fired from the Little

Belt without any previous provocation or justifiable

cause?
Answer. The Little Belt fired the first gun with-

out any previous provocation or justifiable cause.

Question. Did you hear any hail from the Little

Belt, previously to commodore Rodgers' having hail -

ed her ?

Answer. No, sir ; none.

Question. Have you seen commodore Rodgers'

official letter to the secretary of the navy, dated off

Sandy- Hook, on the 23d day of May last, relative

to the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
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Question. Are there any circumstances stated in

that letter which you know to be incorrect ?

Answer, No, sir.

The court adjourned to meet at the same place to-

morrow morning at eleven o'clock.

'Tuesday, the 10th of September\ 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, 7 members .

Capiain Isaac Lhauncey, 3

The proceedings of the court of yesterday, were

read and approved.
\

Philip Dickerson Spencer was produced

and sworn as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th day of

May last ; and was there then an action between her

and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. I was then on board the said frigate,

when there was an action between her and the said

ship the Little Belt.

Question. What was your station, and where were

you quartered, on board the said frigate the President,

at the time of the said action ?

Answer. I was then a midshipman, on board the

said frigate, and was quartered in the third division

on the gun deck.

Question. Did the Little Belt commence the said

action by firing the first gun, and were you looking
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at her when you heard the report of the first gun
which was then fired ?

Answer. At the time the first gun was fired I was
not looking at the Li'tle Belt, but from the direction

in which the report came, and (rom no' 'hen feeling

any jar, I am confident the first gun was fired from

her.

Question. When von heard the report of the said

gun, had any gun been fired from the division in which

you were quartered, or had any pre\ious provocation

been given to Hie commander of the Little Beit ?

Answer. No gun had then been fired from the di-

vision in which I was quartered ; neither had any pre-

vious provocation, to m\ knowledge, been given to

the captain of the Little Belt.

Que lion. Have you seen commodore Rcdgers'

official letter to the secretary of the navy, bearing

date, off Sandy- Hook, on the 23d day of May last,

relative to the action with the Little Belt ?

Answer. I have, sir.

Question. Are there any circumstances therein

.stated which you know to be incorrect?

Answer. Not any.

Question bv commodore Rodgers. Did you hear

am hail from the Little Belt, previously to commo-
dore Bodgers' having hailed her?

Answer. I did not.

Br e asted Barnes was produced and sworn as

a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the 16th day of

Mav last; and was there then an action between her

and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where were

you then quartered, on board the said frigate the Pre-

sident ?
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Answer. I was then carpenter of the said frigate,

and was quartered on the gun-deck to attend the

pumps.
Question. Did the Little Belt commence the said

action, by firing the first gun ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; she fired the first gun.

Question. Were you looking at the Little Belt

when she fired the first gun, and did you see the flash

and hear the report of it ?

Answer. I was standing forward of the main*mast,

looking through a port at her, when I saw the flash and
heard the report of the gun which she then fired.

Question. When you saw the Little Belt fire the

said gun, had any gun been previously fired from the

President, or had any provocation been given to the

commander of the Little Belt ?

Answer. At that time the President had not fired

any gun, nor had any previous provocation been given

to the commander of the Little Belt, that I saw or*

heard.

Question. Were there any, and what damages,
sustained by the said frigate the President, in her hull

and spars, in the affair between her and the said ship

the Little Belt, on the night of the 16th day of May,
1811?
Answer. There was not a single shot of any de-

scription that struck the hull of the President, but
she received one shot in her main mast, and one in

has foremast, during that affair.

John Niess, Eliphalet Carr, John Jones, James
Vehch, and Trophemus Davis

t
were produced and

sivorn as witnesses.

John Niess, was examined.

Question. Were you on board the President on
the night of the action between her and the Link-
Belt?

-37
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Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where were

you quartered, on boaid the President, at the time of

the said action?

Answer. I was eaptain of the first gun of the first

division on the gun deck.

Question. Did the Little Belt commence the said

action by firing the first gun, and were you then

looking at her?

Answer. She did, sir, fire the first gun; I was then

looking at her out of the port, and saw the flash and
heard the report of it.

Eliphalet Carr was interrogated*

Question. Were you on board the President on
the night of the action between her and the Little

Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Where were you quartered, and what
was your station, on board the President at the time

of the said action?

Answer. I was captain of, and quartered at gun
No. 2, in the first division on the gun deck.

Question. Did the Little Belt commence the action

by firing the first gun, and were you then looking at

her?
Answer. She fired the first gun. I was then look-

ing at her, and saw the flash and heard the report of

it?

John Jones was examined.

Question. Were you on board the United States

frigate the President, on the night of the action be-

tween her and the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Que&tion. At what gun were you then quartered,

and what was your station at the gun?
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Answer. I was quartered at gun No. 3, of the first

division, on the gun deck, and was sail trimmer.

Question. Are the persons now on board the Pre-

sident who, at the time of the said action, were first

and Second captains of gun No. 3 of the first divi-

sion?

Answer. They are not. Their term of service

having expired, they have been discharged.

Question. Did the President or the Little Belt fire

the first gun?
Answer. The Little Belt. I was looking at her

out of a port, and saw the flash, and drew my head
in, and heard the report of it.

James Veitch was produced and examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate?

Answer. I was captain of gun No. 4, of the first

division, and was quartered at that gun.

Question. Did the President or the Little Belt

fire the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt fired first. I was then

looking at her, and saw the flash and heard the report

of the gun.

Trophemtjs Davis, having been sworn, was
produced and examined.

Question. Were you on board ihe United States

frigate the President, on the night of the action be-

tween her and his Britannick majesty's ship the Lit-

tle Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?
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Answer. I was then quartered at gun No. 5, of

the first tlivision on the gun deck, and was captain

of the same.

Question. Did the President or the Little Belt

fire the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt. I was looking at her

out of a port and saw her fire it.

John Layjield, Benjamin Brown, Edward Fitzger-

ald, James Cornwall and Jolin Fitch, were pro-

duced and sworn as witnesses.

John Layfield, was examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was captain of, and quartered at gun
No. 6, of the second division on the quarter deck.

Question. Did the President, or the Little Belt

fire the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt fired the first gun ; I was
looking out of a port and saw her fire it.

Benjamin Brown, was called into court and
examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and
where were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then quartered at gun No. 7, of
the second division, on the gun deck, and was shot

and wad man.
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Question. Arc the persons now on board the

President, who, at the time of the said action, were
first and second captains of gun No. 7, of the second
division; if not, where are they ?

Answer. They are not now aboard ; the term of

service of the first captain of that gun has expired,

and he has been discharged, and the second captain

has deserted.

Question. Did the President, or the Little Belt

fire the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt fired the first gun ; I

was then looking at her and saw her fire it.

Edward Fitzgerald, was called into court

and examined as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was captain of, and quartered at gun
No 8, of the second division, on the gun deck.

Question. Did the President, or the Little Belt
fire the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt ; I was then looking at
her and saw her fire.

James Cornwall, having been sworn, was
called into court and examined as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-
dent, on the night of the action between her and the
ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then captain of, and quartered at,

gun No. 9, of the second division, on the gun deck!
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Question. Did the President, or the Little Belt
fire the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt, to the best of my
knowledge; I was not then looking at her, but from
the report, and not feeling any jar, I believe she fired

the first shot.

John Fitch, having been previously sworn, was
again called into court and examined as a w'wiess.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was second captain of, and was quar-

tered at, gun No. 10, of the second division on the

gun deck.

Question. Where is the first captain of gun
No. 10, of the second division?

Answer. He has deserted.

Question. Did the President, or the Little Belt

fire the first gun ?

Answer. I saw the Little Belt fire the first gun.

The court adjourned to meet at the same place to-

morrow morning at 1 1 o'clock.

Wednesday , the Wth September, 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, ? mcmbers .

Captain Isaac Chauncey, \



295

The proceedings of the court of yesterday were

read and approved.

Richard Thompson, John Mason, James Thompson,
David Lawson, and James Lee, wereproduced and
sworn as witnesses.

Richard Thompson, was then examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was quartered at gun No. 11, in the

third division, on the gun deck, and was fireman.

Question. Are the first and second captains of

said gun No. 11, on board the frigate President ?

Answer. The first captain of that gun is on board
the said frigate, but is sick and confined to his ham-
mock, and the second captain thereof has been dis-

charged, his term of service having expired.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt fired the first shot ; I was
then looking at her out of a port and saw the flash, and
heard the report of her gun, just at the moment when
commodore Rodgers hailed her the second time.

John Mason, having been already sworn, was
called into court and interrogated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate?
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Answer. I was captain of gun No. 12, in the

third division on the gun deck, and was quartered at

that gun.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt ; I had my eyes on her

at the time, and saw the flash of the gun she then

fired.

David Law son was called into court and inter-

rogated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sin

Question. What was then your station, and where

were you quartered on board the said frigate?

Answer. I was captain ofgun No. 14, of the third

division on the gun deck, and was quartered at that

gun.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt ; I was then looking at

her and saw the flash of her gun ?

James Lee was called into court and examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station and where

were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then captain of gun No. 15, of

the third division on the gun deck, and was quarter-

ed at that gun.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt.
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James Thompson was called into court and in*

terrotated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then captain of gun No. 13, of the

third division on the gun deck, and was quartered

at the same.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Li'tle Belt ; at the second time the

commodore hailed her, I was looking at her and saw
the flash, and heard the report of her gun.

Edward Walker, Moses Dunbar, George Simmons, and
John M'Cormick, were produced to the court and
sworn as witnesses,

Edward Walker was examined.

Question. Were you on board the f igate Presi^

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Bel" ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were yoa quartered, on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then captain of the first gun of the

fourth division, on the forecastle, and was quartered

at that gun.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. From the report of the gun that was first

fired, and from not feeling any jir at that time, I am
confident the Little Belt fired the first gun*

38
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Moses Dunbar ivas called into court and inter-

rogated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate President

on the night of the action between her and the ship

Little Beit ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigite?

Answer. I was then second captain ot the second
gun of the 4th division on the forecastle, and was then

quartered at the same.

Question. Is the first captain of that gun now on
board the said frigate?

Answer. No, sir : his term of service having ex-

pired, he has been discharged.

Question. Which ship tired the first gun?
Answer. The Little Beit fired first : I was then

looking at her out of a port, and saw the flash and
heard the report of her gun.

George Simmons was called into court and in-

terrogated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate President

on the nigh* of the action between her and the ship

Little Belt?

Answer, Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then the second captain of the third

gun of the fourth division on the forecastle, and was
quartered at the same.

Question. Is the firs r captain of the said gun now
on board the said frigate ?

Aiisxver. No, sir: he was discharged, after his

term of service had expired.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer, The Little Beit fired first: 1 was then
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looking at her, and saw the flash and heard the report

of her gun.

John M'Cormick was called into court and
examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate President

on the night of the action between her and the ship

Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where

were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. 1 was then second captain or the fourth

gun of the 4th division on the forecastle, and was

quartered at the same.

Question. Is the first captain of that gun now on

board the President ?

Answer. He is not. His term of service having

expired, he has been discharged.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt. I was then looking at

her out of a port, when I saw the flush and heard the

report of her gun.

William Campbell, Thomas Taylor, Philip Warner,

Samuel Brown, Richard Cqffbl, Edward Patter-

son, John Anderson and James Welch, were pro-

duced to the court and sworn as witnesses,

William Campbell, was examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent, on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Beli I

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then captain of the first gun of

the 4th division on the quarter deck, and was then

quartered at it.
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Question. Which ship fired the first gun?
Answer. The Little Belt. I was then looking at

her and saw her fire it.

Thomas Taylor was called into court and
examined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent, on the night of the action between her and the

ship the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was captain of the second gun of the

fourth division on the quarter-deck, and was then

quartered at it.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Beh fired the first gun, five or

six seconds before the President fired : I was then

looking steadily at her, and saw the flash and heard

the report of her gun.

Philip Warner was called into court and
examined

Question. Were you on board the President on the

night of the action between her and the Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the President?

Answer. I was captain of the third gun of the

fourth division on the quarter deck, and was then

quartered on the same.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt. I was then looking

through a port at her, and saw the flash and heard the

jreport of her gun.

Samuel Brown was called into court and ex-

amined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-
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dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station, and where
were you quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was second captain of the 4th gun of

the fourth division on the quarter deck, and was then

quartered at it.

Question. Is the first captain of that gun on board

the President?

Answer. No, sir. He was discharged after his

term of service had expired.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt. I was then looking at

her, and saw the flash and heard the report of her gun.

Richard Coffol was called into court and in.

terrogated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Beit?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station and where
were you then quartered on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was second captain of the fifth gun, of

the fourth division on the quarter deck, and was
then quartered at that gun.

Question. Is the first captain of that gun now on
board the President?

Answer. No, sir, he was discharged after his term

of service had expired.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt ; I was then looking at

her out of a port, and saw the flash, and heard the re-

port ot her gun as much as three or four seconds be-

fore the President returned it.
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Edward Patterson was called into court and
interrogated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship the Litde Belt ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where
were you,then quartered, on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then captain of the sixth gun, of

the fourth division on the quarter deck, and was
quan.ered at the same.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt fired the first gun ; I was
then looking at her, and saw the flash and heard the

report of it.

John Anderson was called into court and ex-

amined.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Pre-

sident, on the night of the action bet vveen her and the

ship the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was your station, and where

were you then quartered, on board the said frigate ?

Answer. I was then captain of the seventh gun,

of the fourth division on the quarter deck, and was
quartered at that gun.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt fired the first gun ; I saw-

two flishes from her at the time, and heard the report

of her gun.

James Welch was called into court and inter-

rogated.

Question. Were you on board the frigate Presi-

dent on the night of the action between her and the

ship Little Belt ?
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Answer. Yes, I was, sir.

Question. What was your station and where
were you then quartered on board the said frigate?

Answer. I was captain of the eighth gun, of the

fourth division on the quarter deck, and was then

quartered at the same.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Beit fired firs! ; I was then

looking at her, and saw the fla.-.h, and heard the re-

port of her gun, three or four seconds before any gun
was fired from the President.

Lieutenant John Orde Creighton was
called into court and again examined.

Question by commodore Rodgers. When the

Little Belt's fire was silt need a second time, ought
she to have been kept away, or brought too. to have
brought her guns to bear upon the President ?

Answer. At the time the Little Belt's fire was si.

lenced a second time, her broadside was bearing on
the President ; as the Little Belt dropped astern of
the President she luffed up, but she should then have
been kept away, to have brought her guns to bear
upon the President.

Question by commodore Rodgers. At the time
the Little Belt's guns were finally silenced, with the

sail she had set at that time, had her rudder been free,

could she have been kept away so as to have brought
her guns to bear upon the President, had the com-
mander of the Little Belt been so disposed?

Answer. At that time had the rudder of the Lmle
Belt been free, she could have been kepi away so as

to have brought her guns to bear upon the President,

Question by the same. When the Little Belt's

fin was finally silenced, what do you suppose were
commodore Rodgers' motives for giving orders so
instantaneously to stop the President's fire ?
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Answer. My opinion was that the commodore's
orders proceeded from motives of humanity.

Jacob Mull was called into court and again
examined.

Question by commodore Rodgers. When the Lit-

tle Belt's fire was finally silenced, what do you sup-

pose were commodore Rodgers' motives for giving

orders so instantaneously to stop the President's fire ?

Answer. I suppose the commodore's orders pro-

ceeded from motives of humanity.

Alexander James Dallas was called into

court and again examined.

Question by commodore Rodgers. You have sta-

ted in your evidence that you heard two reports when
you saw the Little Belt fire the first gun ; what, in your

opinion, did the said reports proceed from ?

Answer. The one was the report of the gun from

the Little Belt, and the other, I suppose, proceeded

from the striking of the shot.

The court adjourned to meet at the same place,

to-morrow morning at 11 o'clock.

Thursday, the \2tb September', 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, president,

Captain Charles Stewart, 7 iC- t r*\ /" memuers.
aptam Isaac Chauncey, $

The proceedings of the court of yesterday were

read and approved.



305

Silas H. Shin g ham, a midshipman on board the

President on the night of the action between her

and the Lit tie Belt, was sworn as a witness,

and interrogated.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the action be-

tween her and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little

Belt?
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station on board

the said frigate ?

Answer. I was a midshipman on board of her.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt fired the first gun ; I

was then standing along side of the commodore, look-

ing at her, and saw the flash and heard the report of

her gun.

James H. Ludlow was produced and sworn as

as a witness.

Question. Were you on board the United States'

frigate the President, on the night of the action be-

tween her and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little

Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station on board

the said frigate ?

Answer. I was a midshipman on board of her.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt; I was then standing

en a shot box, along side of the commodore, look-

ing at her, and saw the flash and heard the report of

her gun.

David Gelston Ingraham wasproduced and
sworn as a witness.

Question. Were vou on board the United Sites'

39
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frigate the President, on ,the night of the action be-

tween her and his Britannic majesty's ship the Little

Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. What was then your station on board

the said frigate?

Answer. I was a midshipman on board of her.

Question. Which ship fired the first gun ?

Answer. The Little Belt. I was standing in the

starboard gangway looking at her, and saw the flash

and heard the report of her gun, before I heard the

report of a gun from the President.

Lieut. John Orde Creighton, ivas called

into court and again examined.

Question. When you boarded the ship Little Belt,

the morning after the action, did you offer, by order

of commodore Rodgers, assistance to the comman
der of the Little Belt?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Lieut. Raymond H. J. Perry, toas called in-

to court and again examined.

Question. At what hour on the day of the action

between the United States' frigate, the President, and
his Britannic majesty's ship, the Little Belt, were the

colours of the former hoisted, and how long were
they kept flying?

Answer. The colours of the said frigate Presi-

dent were hoisted about a quarter before two p. m.
on the day of the said action, and were kept flying

until noon of the following day.
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Mr. President, and Gentlemen of the Court,

I AVAIL myself of the present moment to

express my thanks for the patient investigation of the

merits of the transaction which caused its conven-
tion ; and I feel perfectly convinced that the evidence

adduced is amply sufficient to insure that m\ conduct
in this affair will meet the approbation of every un*
prejudiced mind, as well for its general tenor as for

the lenity shewn to an assumed enemy, whom I had
it in my power to destroy by a single broadside more,
and that too without any risk of injury to the ship un-
der my command.
Many of the interrogatories put by myself to the

witnesses, may have appeared to the court superflu-

ous, I fear ; but \\ hen it consideis the odious features

of the statement which has been exhibited in the

newspapers, said to be captain Bingham's official

statement to admiral Sawyer, (dated, his majesty's

sloop Little Belt, May 21, 1811, lat. 36 53, long.

71 49 \V. cape Charles bearing west, distant 48
miles) I am sure it cannot complain of the time I

have taken up in proving (while I had it in mv power)
that unblushing representation to be palpably and
wilfully false.

I should not now longer trespass on the time and
patience of the court, was it not probable that the
present proceedings may be published to the world,
and a consequent desire that even my motive for chas-

ing the Little Belt should be known; and this I am
the more desirous of, as great pains have been taken,

by a few individuals \\Jio call themselves Americans,
to impose a belief that 1 chased with a "hostile inten-

tion, not, however, because 1 entertain a hope of pro-
ducing any change injthe sentiments of men^ like

themselves (and for the honor of my country I hope
there are but few such) who are disposed to represent
all the ac ts of their government, "aT'welTas ofTts
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agents, in an odious light, but to undeceive not only
my own countrymen, but even every liberal English-
man, who may have been deceived by this sophistry.

That 1 did chase the Little Beit I acknowledge ; but
that I did so with the intention of offering menace or

insult to the British flag, I declare in the presence of

my God, is without any foundation whatever ; nei-

ther would the orders under which I was acting au-
thorize such a course any more than they would have
justified my submitting to an insult from a British,

or any other ship of war.

Without further observation or comment than is

necessarily connected with the subject, the following

are therefore my reasons for having chased that ship :

On the 10th of May, being then at anchor off An-
napolis, I got under weigh to proceed to my station at

New York, in consequence of an order from the ho-

norable the secretary of the navy to that effect ; in

which he acquainted me of his having issued this or-

der owing to his being informed that the trade ofNew
York had become interrupted by British and French
Cruisers. At this time I discovered by the newspa-
pers that a British frigate, supposed to be the Guer-
riere, had, in the vicinity of Sandy Hook, and during

my absence from the station, impressed out of the

American brig Spitfire, bound coastwise, a young man
by the name of Diggeo, an American, and apprentice

to the master of the brig. On the 16th of May, at a

little past meridian, being at the time in seventeen

fathoms water, about fourteen or fifteen leagues to the

northward and eastward of Cape Henry, and about
six leagues from the land to the southward of Chen-
goteak, a sail was discovered to the eastward, stand-

ing towards us, under a press of canvas, which I

soon made out, by the shape of her uppt r sails, as

they became distinguishable from our deck, to be a

man oi war. Not having heard of any other ship of

war than the before mentioned frigate being on our



309

coast, I concluded (and more particularly from the

direction in which she was discovered) that it was her,

and accordingly determined to speak her, as well be-

cause I considered it my duty to know the names and

characters, if possible, of all foreign cruizers hover-

ing on our coast, as from an impression, if it turned

out to be the vessel I had conceived, that her com-
mander, from having learned through the medium of

the newspapers the sensation which the before men-
tioned outrage had produced throughout the United

States, might be' induced, if he was not totafly regard-

less of American claims to justice, to mention that he

had the young man in question on board, and would
deliver him up to me ; and perhaps at the same time

assign some cause for such a gross violation of the

sovereign rights of the American nation. ...at any rate,

whether he was so disposed or not, if I could learn

from him that the man was on board, I should have it

in my power to represent the same to my govern-

ment and thereby be the means of more readily effect-

ing his emancipation from vassalage, and the cruel

necessity of fighting the battles of the very country

whose officer had thus unlawfully enslaved him : and
in doing this, I considered I was doing no more than

a duty imposed on me by my situation, consequently

I felt regardless if in accomplishing it, a further at-

tempt should be made to insult my country by offer-

ing violence to the flag flying over my head : as I was
then, am now, and ever shall be prepared to repel any

such insult or injury to the very utmost of the force

under my command, and that too without regard to

the consequences resulting therefrom.

These, gentlemen, were my motives for having

chased the ship, which I supposed to be the frigate

that impressed Diggeo, but which afterwards proved

to be his Britannic majesty's ship Little Belt. But
even if I had no such reason to justify my chasing, I

maintain that the usage of nations, the treaty concln-
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ded in 1783 between the United States and Great

Britain, as well as British precedents almost without

number, gave me that right ; if it be admitted that

our country possesses any comparative or reciprocal

rights whatever.

Although 1 admit I did chase the Little Belt, I ne-

vertheless deny that her commander wished to prevent

my coming up with him, otherwise he undoubtedly

would not have kept away, and set his studding-sails,

when he was several miles to windward of me : added

to this, his conduct was unfriendly, to say the least,

as he declined shewing his colors until after it was too

dark to distinguish what they were, although he must
have perceived, as well from the courses I steered as

from my colors, (of which he undoubtedly saw the

pendant) that I wished to speak him. Indeed, the

several circumstances make it apparent to me, that

he was ignorant of our force, and wished to procras-

tinate our meeting only until after it should be dark.

(Signed) JNO. RODGERS.
[True copy from the original on file in the office of the se-

cretary of the navy.

CH. W. GOLDSBOROUGH,
chief clerk of the Navy Department.]

The court of inquiry, authorized and required by

precept issued by the honorable the secretary of the

navy of the United States, bearing date the 24th day of

July, 1811, have,in conformity with the same, minutely

examined into every circumstance stated in the letter

of John Rodgers, esquire, bearing date off Sandy

Hook, May 23d, 1811, and addressed to the honora-

ble the secretary of the navy of the United States, re-

lative to the affair between the United States' frigate the

President and his Britannic majesty's ship the Lille
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or Little Belt ; and having taken all the testimony that

could in any manner or degree elucidate facts, do, in

obedience to the aforesaid precept, state all the facts

that have been disclosed :

First. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that commodore Rodgers, on perceiving his

Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt, to be a ship

of war, made every exertion to come up with her be-

fore dark.

Second. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that the flag of the United States was displayed,

on board the United States' frigate the President, as

soon as his Britannic majesty's ship Little Belt was
discovered to be a ship of war, and was kept flying

until noon of the following day.

Third. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that captain Bingham acknowledged that the

broad pendant of the United States' frigate the Presi-

dent had been distinguished during the chase from
his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt.

Fourth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of

the court, that no colours were perceived flying on
board of his Britannic majesty's ship the Litde Belt,

until she hove too, and that it was then too dark to

distinguish to what nation they belonged.

Fifth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that commodore Rodgers hailed his Britannic

majesty's ship the Little Belt first.

Sixth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that commodore Rodgers' hail was not satis-

factorily answered.

Seventh. It has been proved to the satisfaction of

the court, that his Britannic majesty's ship the Little

Belr fired the first gun.

Eighth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that the first gun fired by his Britannic majes-

ty's ship the Little Belt, was without any previous

provocation or justifiable cause.
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Ninth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that the shot fired from his Britannic majesty's

ship the Little Belt was returned from the United
States' frigate the President by a single gun.

Tenth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of the

court, that the general fire was commenced bv his Bri-

tannic majesty's ship the Little Belt.

Eleventh. It has been proved to the satisfaction of

the court, that after the firing had continued four or

five minutes, his Britannic majesty's ship the Little

Belt ceased firing.

Twelfth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of

the court, that after his Britannic majesty's ship the

Little Belt had ceased firing, and the fire of the United
States' frigate the President had, in consequence
thereof, ceased, that the former ship, in about three

minutes, re-commenced her fire upon the latter.

Thirteenth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of

the court, that the second fire continued about five

minutes, when his Britannic majesty's ship the Little

Belt was totally silenced.

Fourteenth. It has been proved to the satisfaction

of the court, that in both instances, when the fire of

his Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt was si-

lenced, commodore Rodgers exerted himself to pre-

vent further injury being done to her.

Fifteenth, It has been proved to the satisfaction of

the court, that the United States' frigate the President

was laying too, with lights hoisted, during the night

after the affair with his Britannic majesty's ship the

Little Belt.

Sixteenth. It has been proved to the satisfaction of

the court, that commodore Rodgers proffered aid to

the commander of his Britannic majesty's ship the

Little Belt, the morning after the rencounter.

Seventeenth. It has been proved to the satisfaction

of the court, that in consequence of the fire from his

Britannic majesty's ship the Little Belt, one boy was



313

wounded on board the United States' frigate the Pre-

sident, one shot struck her main- mast, another struck

her fore mast, and some of her rigging was cut.

Eighteenth. It has been proved to the satisfaction

of the court, that the letter of commodore Rodgers,
bearing date off Sandy Hook, on the :23d day of May
last, and addressed to the honorable the secretary of

the navy of the United States, is a correct and true

statement of the occurrences which took place between
the United States' frigate the President and his Britan-

nic majesty's ship the Little Belt.

The court adjourned, to meet to-morrow morning
at Mechanic Hall, in Broadway, in the city of New-
York.

Friday, the 13 th of'September , 1811.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

PRESENT,

Commodore Stephen Decatur, President,

Captain Charles Stewart, ~)
.

n r
, T n , > members.

Captain Isaac Chauncey, 3

The proceedings of the court of yesterday were
read and approved.

The court thereupon adjourned without day.

(Signed) STEPHEN DECATUR,
President.

Wm. PAULDING jr.

Judge Advocate.

[True copy from the original, on file in the office of the se«

cretary of the navy.

CH. W. GOLDSBOROUGH,
Chief Clerk of the JNavy Department!

40
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UNITED STATES' FRIGATE PRESIDENT,

Off Sandy Hook, May 23d, 1811.

SIR,

I have the honor to acquaint you that in obe-

dience to your instructions of the 6ih instant, I sailed

from Annapolis on the 10th, but owing to head winds

I did not get to sea until the 14th. On which day,

oft cape Henry, I supplied the ship Madison, of Bal-

timore, belonging to Mr. James Bias, with an anchor

and cable, she being in distress on account of having

lost hers, except one which was not sufficient to ride by.

On the 15th inst. cape Henry bearing west south-

west, distant 50 miles, fell in with a second vessel,

the brig Sussex, of Nt w Yo'k, Neat, master, bound
to Norfolk from Oronoke, in distress for provisions,

which I supplied

I regret extremely being under the necessity of

representing to you an event th t transpired on the

night of the I6th instant, between the ship under my
command and his Britannic majesty's ship of war,

tlv Little Be It, commanded by captain Bingham :

the result of which has given me much pain, as well

on account of the injury she sustained, as that I

should have been compelled to the measure that pro-

duced it* by a vessel of her inferior force. The cir-

cumstances are as follow : On the 16th instant, at

twenty-five minutes past meridian, in seventeen fa-

thoms water, cape Htfiry bearing south-west, distant

fourteen or fifteen leagues, a sail was discovered

from our mast heads in the east, standing towards

us under a press of sail. At half past one, the sym-

metry of her upper sails (which were at this time

distinguishable from our deck) and her making sig-

nals, shewed her to be a man of war.

At fort) -five minutes past one p. m. hoisted our

ensign and pendant, when finding her signals not an-

swered, she wore and stood to the southward. Being
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desirous of speaking her, and of ascertaining what
she was, I now made sail in chase; and by half past

three p. m. found we were coming up with her, as

by 'his time, the upper part of her stern beg .n to

shew itself above the horizon from our deck. The
wind now began and continued gradually to decrease,

so as to prevent my being abk to approach her suf-

ficiently before sun sec, to discover her actual force,

which the position she presented during the chase,

was calculated to conceal, or to judge even to what
nation she belonged, as she appeared studiously to de-

cline shewing her colours. At fifteen or twenty mi-

nutes past seven p. m. the chase took in her studding

sails and soon alter hauled up her courses and hauled

by the wind on the starboard tack. She at the same
time hoisted an ensign or flag at her mizzen peak

;

but it was too dark for me to discover what nation it

represented. Now, for the first time, her broadside

was presented to our view, but night had so far pro-

gressed, that although her appearance indicated she

was a frigate, I was unable to determine her actual

force. At fitteen minutes before eight p. m. being

about a mile and a halt from her, the wind at the

time very light, I directed captain Ludlow to take a

position to windward of her and on the same tack

within short speaking distance.

This however the commander of the chase appear-

ed from his manceuvers to be anxious to prevent. As
she wore, I hauled by the wind on different tacks four

times successively between this period and the time

of our arriving at the position which I had ordered

to be taken. At fifteen or twenty minutes past

eight, being a little forward of her weather beam, and
distant Irom seventy to a hundred yards, I hailed
" what ship is that ?" To this enquiry no answer was
given, but I was hailed by her commander and ask jd
•' what ship is that?" Having asked the first ques-
tion, I of course considering myself entitled by the
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common rules of politeness to the first answer. After

a pause of fifteen or twenty seconds, I reiterated my
first enquiry •' what ship is that ?" and before I had
time to take the trumpet from my mouth, was an-

swered bj a shot that cut off one of our maintop-
jnast breast back stays and went into our main mast.

A' this instant captain Caldwell (of m.jrii.es) who was
standing very near to me on the gan - \ y having ob-

served, "sir, she has firedatus," caused me to pause for

a moment, just as I was in the act of giving an order

to fit e a shot in return ; and bef :e I had time to re-

su . the repetition of the intended order, a shot was
actually fired from the second division of this ship,

aid was scarcely out of the gun before it was an-

swered from our assumed enemy by three others in

quick succession ; and soon after the rest of his broad-

side and musketry. When the first shot was fired,

being under an impression that it might possibly have
proceeded from accident and without the orders of

the commander, I had determined at the moment to

fire only a single shot in return ; but the immediate
repetition of the previous unprovoked outrage in-

duced me to believe that the insult was premeditated,

and that from cur adversary's being at the time as ig-

norant of our real fbrce as I was of his, he thought

this perhaps a favorable opportunity of acquiring pro-

motion, although at the expense ofviolating our neu-

trality and insulting our ft g I accordingly with

that degree of repugnance incident to feeling equally

determined neither to be the aggressor, nor to suffer

the flag of mv country to be insulted with impunity,
give a generjl order to lire; the effect of which in

from four to six minutes, as near as I could judge,

having produced a partial silence of his guns, I gave
orders to cease firing, discovering by the feeble oppo-
sition, that it must be a ship of very inferior force to

what I had supposed ; or that some untoward acci-

dent had happened to her. My orders in this instance
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however (although they proceeded alone from mo-
tivts of humanity and a determination not to spill a

drop of blood unnecessarily) I had in less than four

minutes some reason to regret, as he renewed his tire,

of which two thirty two pound shot cutoffone of our

fore shrouds and injured our foremast. Ii was now
that I found myself under the paintul necessity of

giving orders for a repetition of our fire, against a

force which my forbearance alone had enabled to do us

any injury of moment. Our fire. was accordingly re-

newed and continued from three to five minutes long-

er, when perceiving our opponent's gaff and colours

down, his maintopsail yard upon the cap and his hie

silenced, although it was so dark I could not discern

any other particular injury we had done, or how tar

he was in a situation to do us further harm, 1 never-

theless embraced the earliest moment to stop our

fire and prevent the further effusion of blood. Here
a pause of half a minute or more took place, at the

end of which our adversary not shewing a further

disposition to fire, I hailed and again asked, " what
ship is that ?'* and learned for the first time that it

was a ship of his Britannic majesty, but owing
to its blowing rather fresher than it had done, I

was unable to learn her name. After having infor-

med her commander of the name of this ship 1 gave
orders to wear, run under his lee, and haul by the

wind on the starboard tack, and heave too under
topsails, and repair what little injury we had sus-

tained in our rigging, &c. which was accordingly ex-

ecuted, and we continued lying too on diffen nt tacks,

with a number of lights displayed, in order that our
adversary might the belter discern our position, and
command our assistance, in case he found it necessa-

ry during the night. At day light on the 17th, he
was discovered several miles to leeward, when I gave
orders to bear up and run down to him under easy sail

:

after hailing him, I sent a boat on board with lieute-
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riant Creighton, to learn the names of the ship and her

commander, with directions to ascertain the damage
she had sustained, and to inform her commander how
much I regretted the necessity on my part, which had
led to such an unhappy result ; at the same time to of-

fer all the assistance that the ship under my command
afforded, in repairing the damage his had sustain-

ed. At 9 a. m. Heut. Creighton returned with in-

formation that it was his Britannic majesty's ship

the Little Belt, commanded by captain Bingham,
who in a polite manner declined the acceptance of any
assistance, saying at the same time that he had on

board all the necessary requisites to repair the da-

mages sufficiently to enable him to return to Halifax.

This, however, was not the most unpleasant part of

capt. Bingham's communication to lieut. Creighton,

as he informed him, that in addition to the injury his

ship had sustained, between twenty and thirty of his

crew had been killed and wounded.
The regret that this information caused me was

such, you may be sure, as a man might be expected

to feel, whose greatest pride is to prove without os-

tentation, by every public as well as private act, that

he possesses a humane and generous heart ; and with

these sentiments, believe me, sir, that such a commu-
nication would cause me the most acute pain during

the remainder ot my life, had I not the consolation to

know, that there was no alternative left mc, between

such a sacrifice and one which would have been still

greater, namely, to have remained a passive spectator

of insult to the flag of my country, whilst it was con-

fided to my protection.

And 1 would have you to be convinced, sir, that

however much invidually I may previously have had

reason to feel incensed at the repeated outrages com-
mitted on our flag by British ships of war, neither

my passion nor prejudices had any agency in this af-

fair.
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To my country I am well convinced of the impor-

tance of the transaction, which has imposed upon me
the necessity of making you this communication.

I must, therefore, from motives of delicacy, connect-

ed with personal considerations, solicit that you will

be pleased to request the President to authorize a

formal inquiry to be instituted into all the circum-

stances, as well as into every part of my conduct con-

nected with the same.

The injury sustained by the ship under my com-
mand is very trifling except to the tore and main mast,

which I before mentioned. No person killed, and

but one boy wounded.
For furcher particulars, I refer you to captain Cald-

well, who is charged with the delivery of this com-
munication.

I have the honor to be, &c.

(Signed) JOHN RODGERS.

The hon. Paul Hamilton,
Secretary of the navy.

P. S. The Little Belt is a corvette, about the size

of the John Adams ; but owing to her great length,

her having a poop and top gallant forecastle, and room
to mount three more guns of a side than she actually

carries, her deep bulwark and the manner of stow-

ing her hammocks, she has the appearance of a frigate,

and would always be taken for such from the view we
had of her during the chase, as we never had a sight

of her broadside until it was too dark to ascertain that

she onlv carried one tier of guns. She is by Steel's

list (1809) rated at 20 guns.

(Signed) JOHN RODGERS.
[True copy from the original on file in the office of the se-

cretary of the navy.

CH. W. GOLDSBO ROUGH,
Chief clerk of the navy department.}
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